COURT OF APPEALS NO. 71823-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

REC!D

OCT 312014

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- Trial irregularity deprived appellant of his right to a fair trial.
 - 2. The court erred in denying the motion for a mistrial.

Issue Pertaining to Assignments of Error

In the state's prosecution against appellant for first degree robbery of a taxi cab driver, the state's key witness testified appellant also robbed a liquor store and was shot while committing other robberies. Where the court had reserved ruling on the admission of other prior bad acts evidence and expressly admonished the witness to steer clear of any other alleged wrongdoing by appellant, did the court violate appellant's right to a fair trial by not granting his motion for a mistrial when the state's witness blurted out appellant committed prior robberies?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Rodolfo Jerez-Sosa is appealing his conviction for first degree robbery while armed with a firearm, allegedly committed against Fasil Berhanu on September 7, 2012. CP 16-17. Jerez-Sosa was charged after another man, Asuan Santos-Valdez, implicated him during a police interview approximately five

days later. RP 145, 257-58. Police were investigating Santos-Valdez for numerous other crimes, including murder. RP 258-59.

In return for his testimony against Jerez-Sosa and others Santos-Valdez implicated in other crimes, Santos-Valdez received a plea deal which reduced a first degree murder charge to second degree murder and eliminated firearm enhancements for four robbery charges and dismissed an assault charge. RP 148-50.

The state alleged Jerez-Sosa acted as Santos-Valdez's accomplice when Santos-Valdez displayed a firearm and took cash and a credit card from Berhanu, who picked the men up in his taxi.

CP 1-12; Supp. CP __ (sub. 89, State's Trial Memorandum, 1/2/14). Jerez-Sosa asserted he acted under duress. CP 22.

1. <u>State's Agreement Not to Introduce Prior Bad Acts</u> Eivdence in its Case-in-Chief

The defense moved pretrial to prohibit Santos-Valdez from alleging prior instances of misconduct of Jerez-Sosa:

And then D is the motion to exclude evidence of prior bad acts. And in our interview of Mr. Santos-Valdez, who is the Co-Defendant in this matter, he mentioned a number of times purported criminal behavior that my client had participated in prior to these allegations that we're here for today. He didn't really offer a lot of specifics, but he cast my client in a particularly unfavorable light.

¹ Santos-Valdez pled guilty to robbing Berhanu prior to Jerez-Sosa's trial. Supp. CP __ (sub. no. 34, Order of Continuance, 6/5/13).

And I think without a strong admonition from the State, that he would be inclined to do that, particularly upon vigorous cross-examination.

RP 15.² Alternatively, defense counsel asked the court to conduct the four-part test required for admission of prior bad acts evidence under ER 404(b). RP 15.

In response, the state clarified what Santos-Valdez's testimony potentially could touch on:

Mr. Asuan Santos-Valdez said in the interview that actually he was afraid of Mr. Jerez-Sosa, that Mr. Jerez-Sosa had beaten him and whipped him with a gun before, that Mr. Jerez-Sosa was involved in robberies with a group of other Cuban men who had essentially dragged Mr. Asuan Santos-Valdez along with them.

RP 16.

The prosecutor argued such testimony potentially could become relevant in rebuttal, if, as anticipated, Jerez-Sosa put on a duress defense. RP 16. The prosecutor indicated he did not intend

The State has not indicated any specific events or evidence to be admitted under ER 404(b). Asuan Santos-Valdez, the codefendant in this case and a State's witness, suggested in an interview that Mr. Sosa habitually engaged in criminal behavior, including but not limited to drug use and sales and robberies. To admit this evidence, even though from a highly questionable source, would visit extreme prejudice on the defendant. Therefore if the state seeks to admit such evidence the court must engage in an inquiry.

CP 20.

² In its trial brief, the defense noted:

to solicit this evidence on direct: "I think it would be inappropriate for me to ask any of these questions of Asuan Santos-Valdez until a duress defense is actually formally offered[.]" RP 16. The state therefore proposed the court hold an evidentiary hearing following Jerez-Sosa's testimony. RP 17.

In keeping with the prosecutor's suggestion, the court ruled: "at least in its case in chief, the State's witnesses will not refer to any 404(b) material with respect to Mr. Jerez-Sosa." RP 17. In other words, the court ruled: "there should be no surprises in terms of witnesses talking about 404(b) material." RP 17.

To prevent any such surprises, the prosecutor and court advised Santos-Valdez not to address any alleged prior misconduct of Jerez-Sosa, before the state called Santos-Valdez as a witness:

Mr. Santos-Valdez, I know you've testified before in some other cases, but I wanted to tell you what the scope of testimony is and what we can and can't talk about.

At least for now, I'm not going to ask you any questions about any other alleged crimes that Mr. Jerez-Sosa was involved in. The case I'll be asking you about is the robbery of the taxi cab driver in Beacon Hill, and I will be asking you some questions about how the Defendant knows Lazaro Valle-Matos and how he knows Oreste Duanes-Gonzalez. But I won't be asking, at least at this point, about other robberies or other crimes that Mr. Jerez-Sosa is allegedly involved in.

So I would ask that you not volunteer that information or tell that information to the jury. And if there's any questions or concerns about something I've asked or Counsel's asked, you can look to the Judge or me and we can see whether we can bring that up or not. Does that make sense, sir?

MR. SANTOS-VALEZ: Yes, sir.

MR. DOYLE [prosecutor]: Okay.

THE COURT: And Mr. Santos-Valdez, do you have any questions about what the Prosecutor just indicated to you?

MR. SANTOS-VALDEZ: No, I think it's pretty clear.

THE COURT: All right. So no mention of other alleged crimes that Mr. Jerez-Sosa was involved with unless we take up that matter outside the presence of the jury and I tell you specifically that you can say something about those other areas, okay?

MR. SANTOS-VALDEZ: All right.

RP 119-120.

2. <u>State's Case and Motion for Mistrial Based on Santos-Valdez's Violation of Court's Ruling</u>

Berhanu testified he was driving a Yellow Cab on the night of September 7, 2012. RP 68-70. Around 10:30 p.m., Berhanu drove to Safeco Field where a Mariner's game had just ended and picked up a man he described as "white and Spanish" and wearing a black jacket. RP 70. The man in the black jacket directed Berhanu to the

other side of the street to pick up another man, who was wearing a striped shirt. RP 71. The man in the black jacket directed Berhanu to drive them to Beacon Hill. RP 71.

While Berhanu drove, the men spoke in Spanish to each other. RP 73. Berhanu said the man in the striped shirt got on the phone and spoke to someone in Spanish, which Berhanu did not understand. RP 74, 76-77.

Berhanu's cab was equipped with a camera. RP 69. At trial, the state offered still images of the men he picked up from Safeco Field. RP 74-75; Ex 1. When Santos-Valdez testified, he identified himself and Jerez-Sosa from the stills. RP 132.

When Berhanu reached the intersection of 13th Avenue South and Beacon Avenue, the man in the black jacket directed Berhanu to turn left and park. RP 77. Once parked, the man in the black jacket said: "Just give me everything, you know, whatever you have it[.]" RP 78. Berhanu testified that when he turned around, the man in the black jacket punched him in the face with a gun, below his right eye. RP 78.

Berhanu testified the man in the striped shirt exited the cab from behind the driver's seat and opened Berhanu's door. RP 79. Berhanu testified he did not hear the man in the black jacket

threaten or raise his voice at the man in the striped shirt as he exited and opened the driver's door. RP 79. However, when the man in the striped shirt opened Berhanu's door, the man in the black jacket told him to "[t]ake everything." RP 81. Berhanu testified he gave the man in the striped shirt his wallet. RP 79.

Berhanu testified he gave the man in the black jacket his wedding ring and watch. RP 83. According to Berhanu, the man in the striped shirt thereafter got in the front passenger seat, took two phones and Berhanu's cab bag, containing his "for hire license," GPS and Good to Go pass. RP 84-85.

Santos-Valdez testified he and Jerez-Sosa robbed Berhanu. RP 123-24, 132. Despite the court's pre-trial ruling, Santos-Valdez testified the initial plan was to rob a liquor store because Jerez-Sosa reportedly claimed he had "got away with robbing liquor stores before:"

Q [prosecutor] Okay. So you were talking about looking for a victim to rob; is that correct?

A [Santoz-Valdez] We was looking for a victim to rob since – first of all, the gun was not even – it didn't even belong to me, it belonged to them, and we was going to – the plan – well, we actually came up with a plan first. We wanted to – I'm kind of confused here, because I don't know if I supposed to say this, but we was actually going to rob something different.

Q Okay.

A Site. We was going to –

MR. FELKER [defense counsel]: Objection.

THE COURT: Overruled.

THE WITNESS: Okay. He wanted to rob the liquor store and I didn't agree. He said that he got away with robbing liquor stores before and was successful at it, but –

MR. FELKER: Objection.

THE COURT: Overruled.

THE WITNESS: We end up not doing it. So somebody mentioned in the van the taxi.

RP 127.

Santos-Valdez claimed that the taxicab plan was hatched earlier, while he was riding in a van with Jerez-Sosa, Oreste Duanes-Gonzalez, Lazaro Valle-Matos and someone named "Jorge." RP 124-25. According to Santos-Valdez, the men knew each other since they were teens. RP 125. Santos-Valdez claimed everyone in the van was broke and decided to rob a taxi driver, because "the Mariners was playing, so it's pretty busy, they got money." RP 127; see also RP 131. Santos-Valdez alleged the

group conspired to drop off Santos-Valdez and Jerez-Sosa at Safeco Field. RP 127.

Santos-Valdez claimed the plan was to direct the cab driver to the Lago Vista apartments on Beacon Hill, "where there is a really dark street where they park in the top hill." RP 128. According to Santos-Valdez, "[t]here's stairs, so we could actually rob them, rob the taxi cab there, take his keys, his phones, whatever, and then run towards the stairs, which really dark." RP 128. Santos-Valdez claimed: "So that's what we did." RP 128.

In contrast to Berhanu, Santos-Valdez testified he was the one who got Berhanu's wallet, as well as his phone. RP 135.

Santos-Valdez testified he got the gun from Duanes-Gonzalez. 128-29. According to Santos-Valdez, Jerez-Sosa called and verified the other men were at the designated spot on top of the stairs, before Santos-Valdez pulled out the gun. RP 128, 130.

Santos-Valdez claimed he never pointed the gun at Jerez-Sosa or threatened him in order to force him to participate in the robbery. RP 134. Santos-Valdez testified that after fleeing the taxi, he and Jerez-Sosa ran up the stairs to the van. RP 139.

On cross-examination, defense counsel established that Santos-Valdez was sitting in the back passenger side of the taxi.

RP 152. Defense counsel attempted to establish that the cab driver would not have been able to see the gun, if Santos-Valdez was holding it with his right hand, as was established, "down by his side." RP 152. Valdez-Sosa said he did not remember, but that he pulled the gun out. RP 152.

Defense counsel then asked: "And isn't it true, Mr. Santos-Valdez, that you pointed that gun at my client?" RP 153. Santos-Valdez responded, "That's not true." RP 153. At this point, defense counsel asked: "You knew my client had been shot in the past; right? He's got a mark on his neck where he's been shot." RP 153. Santos-Valdez answered non-responsively: "From committing robberies, yes." RP 153.

At the next break, the state argued the defense question about Jerez-Sosa being shot in the neck opened the door to questions about how Jerez-Sosa was shot, i.e. while committing an alleged robbery. RP 156. The state argued such evidence was relevant because the defense expert witness, psychologist Delton Young, would testify that because Jerez-Sosa was shot in the neck, he has a heightened sense of alarm around firearms. RP 156.

The court inquired why it would matter, how Jerez-Sosa was shot: "Why would it matter, the circumstances of whether he got

shot committing a robbery or under any other circumstances in terms of the trauma that Dr. Young is going to testify to?" RP 156. The state proposed that it would be impeachment. RP 156. According to the prosecutor, Jerez-Sosa told Dr. Young he was shot by a stranger in a store. RP 157.

Defense counsel responded he did not open the door to testimony about how Jerez-Sosa may have been shot. Rather, as defense counsel put it: "Mr. Santos-Valdez kicked it open, Your Honor. I asked a question and he violated the pretrial agreement by bringing up a 404(b) accusation of prior misconduct." RP 157. Defense counsel moved for a mistrial. RP 157.

The court agreed defense counsel asked a yes or no question: "Mr. Doyle [prosecutor], it was a yes or no question, do you know that he had a mark on his neck. It didn't ask for any other explanation." RP 157; see also RP 159.

The prosecutor suggested the court shelve the issue until after Jerez-Sosa and Dr. Young testified to see if the evidence would become admissible. RP 160.

Defense counsel adamantly objected:

We're not willing to table this issue, Your Honor. The bell has been rung, the milk is out of the carton. Regardless of my knowledge of what Mr.

Santos-Valdez said in an interview, he was expressly told not to say what he did say. I'm afraid that the prejudice has been done. I didn't stop to object to his testimony because I didn't want to bring more notice to it than had already been occurred. But you can't unring the bell. The elephant is out of the cage, Your Honor.

RP 160.

The court initially agreed:

Well, I'm inclined to grant the mistrial based on the significant prejudice that I think would be caused by the jury knowing that he had committed prior robberies. I can't think of anything more prejudicial.

RP 161.

The court also indicated it should have sustained defense counsel's earlier objection to Santos-Valdez's testimony Jerez-Sosa said he robbed liquor stores and got away with it:

said he got away with robbing a liquor store and was successful at it. Mr. Felker [defense counsel] objected. I overruled the objection, but I was troubled by it. And in reading – listening to that testimony, it's clear to the Court that the objection should have been sustained, although I'm not – the damage was done at that point, as well, when Mr. Jerez-Sosa indicated that – or Mr. Santos-Valdez indicated that Mr. Jerez-Sosa had gotten away with robbing liquor stores.

So Mr. Doyle [prosecutor], how do we cure that problem?

RP 162.

The prosecutor argued the robbery allegations could become relevant in rebuttal, assuming the defense proceeded with a duress defense. RP 164. He asked for a recess to brief the issue. The court granted the prosecutor's request. RP 165.

When court reconvened, the court denied the motion for mistrial, but without prejudice to the defense re-raising it at the conclusion of the case. The court reasoned it could not gauge the seriousness of the irregularity until the end of trial. RP 183-84.

When jurors returned, the court gave the following instruction:

[C]ertain evidence has been admitted in this case for only a limited purpose. During his testimony, Mr. Santos-Valdez referred to an alleged statement by the Defendant, Mr. Jerez-Sosa, that he, the Defendant, had successfully robbed a liquor store. Mr. Santos-Valdez also stated that the Defendant told him that he was allegedly shot in the neck during the commission of a prior robbery.

If you find these statements credible, you may consider them only for the purpose of assessing the Defendant's state of mind on September 7th, 2012, and for no other purpose. You may not consider these statements for their truth, that is, whether or not the Defendant committed other robberies. Any discussion of the evidence must be consistent with this limitation.

RP 202.

The prosecutor re-called Santos-Valdez to clarify he had no personal knowledge of whether Jerez-Sosa had in fact successfully robbed a liquor store, or whether Jerez-Sosa had been shot during the course of a robbery. RP 203. Rather, Santos-Valdez clarified he heard these claims from Jerez-Sosa. RP 203.

Defense Case

When the state rested, the defense renewed the mistrial motion. RP 279. Defense counsel indicated he was prepared to proceed, but the prejudice had already occurred. RP 279. The court gave the same ruling as before. RP 279.

Jerez-Sosa testified that on September 7, 2012, he was living in Tacoma with his girlfriend and working as a mechanic. RP 282, 285-86. That day, he changed a water pump for a friend. RP 285.

Later in the evening, Jerez-Sosa decided to go to Seattle to buy some pain killers (Percocet), because his neck hurt. RP 286. Jerez-Sosa explained he had been shot twice. RP 283. Once, while walking near 23rd Avenue and Cherry Street, he was shot in the neck. He was living in the Central District at the time, and there was a shooting. RP 284. He spent fifteen days in the hospital and has noticeable scars from the shooting. RP 284, 368.

Thirty days after he was shot in the neck, Jerez-Sosa was shot in the foot in a store, in the same area. RP 284. Jerez-Sosa never discussed how he was shot with Santos-Valdez or claimed to have robbed a liquor store. RP 284, 338. In fact, Jerez-Sosa barely knew Santos-Valdez, although he knew Santos-Valdez spent his time with drug dealers in Seattle. RP 282.

Accordingly, when Jerez-Sosa ran into Santos-Valdez that night in South Seattle, Jerez-Sosa told him he was looking for pills or powder cocaine. RP 287. Santos-Valdez suggested they go to Beacon Hill, where Santos-Valdez would help Jerez-Sosa find what he sought. RP 288. Jerez-Sosa had no idea Santos-Valdez had a gun or intended to commit robbery. RP 288, 293.

On the cab ride to Beacon Hill, Jerez-Sosa spoke in Spanish to Santos-Valdez because they are both from Cuba. RP 288. Jerez-Sosa also telephoned his girlfriend to tell her what time he would be home. RP 324, 327.

Jerez-Sosa testified that Santos-Valdez started asking the cab driver "weird" questions about how much money he made. RP 290. When the cab stopped, Santos-Valdez pulled out a gun, told the driver to give up his wallet, hit him in the face and then turned

the gun on Jerez-Sosa and directed: "And you watch the front." Check, check the front." RP 290.

Jerez-Sosa felt he was staring death in the face and did not want to disobey Santos-Valdez. Afraid of being shot, Jerez-Sosa went to the front of the taxi, put what he could find in a black bag and handed it to Santos-Valdez. RP 291, 327. While Jerez-Sosa was checking the front, Santos-Valdez kept the gun pointed at him and Berhanu. RP 292.

After handing over the bag, Jerez-Sosa ran away, up the stairs. RP 292. Santos-Valdez followed him but went a different way at the top. RP 292. Jerez-Sosa ran to a nearby light rail station and caught a train to Tukwila and then a bus to Federal Way, where his friend picked him up. RP 292-93.

Psychologist Delton Young evaluated Jerez-Sosa while he was awaiting trial. RP 294. Jerez-Sosa told Young about being shot in the past and his continuing nightmares, fears and pain. RP 294, 338, 368. Young spoke with Jerez-Sosa's stepmother who confirmed Jerez-Sosa suffered greatly, both mentally and physically after he was shot. RP 363, 365.

In addition to interviewing Jerez-Sosa and his stepmother and reviewing the police reports, Young administered two

psychological tests, one of which has internal validity scales, which heighten its accuracy. RP 355-57, 370-71.

The test showed Jerez-Sosa was neither deceptive nor malingering. RP 373. In Young's opinion, Jerez-Sosa has suffered from post traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) since he was shot, including the date of the instant offense. RP 375. Young recognized anyone would be terrified by having a gun pointed at him or her, but opined Jerez-Sosa would have experienced heightened terror as a result of his PTSD. RP 376.

Before cross, the court ruled the state would be allowed to ask if Young's diagnosis of PTSD would change if Jerez-Sosa was shot while committing a robbery, instead of by a stranger as an innocent bystander. RP 346.

On cross, Young testified Jerez-Sosa told him he was shot by a stranger in a store. RP 397. The prosecutor asked whether Jerez-Sosa's hyper-vigilance and other PTSD symptoms would be consistent with someone who was shot while committing robbery. RP 402. Young could not definitively say. He hypothesized a participant also could be traumatized if he or she were shot, but suspected the trauma might be worse for an innocent bystander. RP 402-03.

On cross, Young also testified that inconsistent descriptions of trauma could affect his PTSD diagnosis, but he would want to know the reason behind the inconsistency, <u>i.e.</u> whether the event was fiction or poorly recalled. RP 404.

Post Trial Motion for Mistrial

Following the jury's verdict, the defense moved for a new trial; the court granted the defense leave to essentially renew its mistrial motion in the event of conviction. RP 434.

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