71823-1

NO. 71823-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

RODOLFO JEREZ-SOSA,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE BRUCE HELLER

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT



DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> NAMI KIM Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

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

- 28 -

<u>Gamble</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 177. A trial court is afforded "wide discretion to cure trial irregularities resulting from improper witness statements." Id.

a. Seriousness Of The Irregularity.

Counsel claims that this was a serious irregularity because it violated a motion in limine. This is overstated. The record more accurately shows that the trial court reserved its ruling on the defense motion for exclusion, with the State noting that it did not intend to offer testimony referencing Jerez-Sosa's claims of past robberies until Jerez-Sosa advanced a duress defense. RP 16-17. Jerez-Sosa unequivocally did so in his opening statement. 2RP 12-16.

While testimony violating an order in limine often qualifies as a serious irregularity, <u>see State v. Thompson</u>, 90 Wn. App. 41, 46, 950 P.2d 977 (1998), it is significant that, unlike virtually all the cases addressing this subject, the order in limine here was not a final and absolute prohibition of the type of testimony elicited from Santos-Valdez, but instead a conditional ruling *pending later developments at trial.* <u>Cf. Escalona</u>, 49 Wn. App. at 252 (non-conditional ruling excluding mention of prior crimes); <u>Thompson</u>, 90 Wn. App. at 44 (final ruling prohibiting officers from offering their opinions on reckless nature of defendant's driving).

Here, the record amply demonstrates that the State and the trial court anticipated from the beginning that the statements at issue might become admissible rebuttal evidence following Jerez-Sosa's presentation of his duress defense. Given the trial court's ultimate determination that the evidence would have come in during rebuttal, the irregularity was one of timing, not admissibility, and was thus not as serious as the introduction of something that had been wholly forbidden.

Moreover, the intentional introduction of inadmissible evidence regarding criminal history is deemed to be more serious than "an unintentional interjection of inadmissible testimony." <u>Gamble</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 178. "The fact that a witness is a 'professional' witness also indicates a serious irregularity." <u>Id.</u> Here, Santos-Valdez was no such professional. The record also supports that both statements were unintentional. Prior to the first statement, Santos-Valdez expressed confusion about what he could say before trying to explain how Jerez-Sosa had encouraged him to rob a liquor store. RP 126. The second statement arose only after defense counsel tried to insinuate that Santos-Valdez was knowingly trying to exploit Jerez-Sosa's history of gunshot wounds, which drew a

1502-2 Jerez-Sosa COA

natural attempt to dispel such an assumption from Santos-Valdez. RP 152-53.

Jerez-Sosa attempts to heighten the seriousness of the irregularity here by analogizing his case to the circumstances in <u>Escalona</u>. His reliance is misplaced. In <u>Escalona</u>, this Court held that the prejudice engendered by the victim's mention of Escalona's prior conviction for assault "becomes particularly serious *because of the paucity of credible evidence against Escalona*" and the "many inconsistencies" during the testimony of the victim, which the court described as "essentially the State's entire case": "*There were no other witnesses to the alleged crime except Escalona himself, whose testimony was not substantially impeached*." 49 Wn. App. at 255 (emphasis added).

Such was not the case here. There was a wealth of credible evidence against Jerez-Sosa, including video surveillance of him committing the crime without any signs of duress, and the testimony of victim Fasil Berhanu and bystander David Mitchell, both of whom described Jerez-Sosa and Santos-Valdez as working together and neither of whom saw Santos-Valdez pointing a gun at or threatening Jerez-Sosa. And unlike Escalona, Jerez-Sosa's testimony about his fearfulness of guns and his role in the robbery *was* "substantially impeached," not just by the admission of Santos-Valdez's statements but the introduction of damaging Facebook photos showing him cavorting with the other robbery participants as they played with a gun. It was further damaged by his highly incongruous and conflicting testimony.

Jerez-Sosa's reliance on <u>State v. Wilburn</u>, 51 Wn. App. 827, 755 P.2d 842 (1988) (witness referenced defendant's confession that he "did it again"), and <u>State v. Miles</u>, 73 Wn.2d 67, 436 P.2d 198 (1968) (officer stated that defendants were on their way to commit a second robbery when arrested), is also misplaced. In <u>Miles</u>, the court noted that the offending testimony would have been inadmissible *under any circumstances*, and the State conceded that it was neither "relevant [n]or necessary to prove an ingredient of the crime charged." In contrast, Jerez-Sosa's duress defense opened the door to the very rebuttal evidence of which he complains.

<u>Wilburn</u> can be distinguished for two reasons. First, the defendant there only had to show prima facie reversible error following the State's failure to file a response brief or present oral argument. <u>Wilburn</u>, 51 Wn. App. at 828-30, 832-33. Second, the reviewing court held that that "*[i]nasmuch as the outcome turned largely on the credibility of Wilburn and the victim*, and the court

- 32 -

had already determined that evidence of prior acts *must be excluded*, a curative instruction would not have helped." <u>Id.</u> at 832 (emphasis added).

Here, the case did not turn largely on the credibility of Jerez-Sosa and Santos-Valdez. Victim Fasil Berhanu testified about the absence of any coercion or gunplay used by Santos-Valdez against Jerez-Sosa, the lack of any observable distress or fear on Jerez-Sosa's part, his actions consistent with someone who was an eager and willing participant (tearing out the radio wires, obscuring the camera, and not only taking the wallet but moving on to the front seat to find more to steal), and the manner in which Jerez-Sosa and Santos-Valdez ran away together and appeared to be working in concert. 911 caller David Mitchell attested to how the two men ran away as if they were together, and observed no signs of distress by Jerez-Sosa or threats or gun use by Santos-Valdez. The cab stills also negated any duress defense, showing that Santos-Valdez never once pointed his weapon at Jerez-Sosa.

Because of the strength of the case and conditional nature of the pretrial ruling, the seriousness of the irregularity was low.

b. Cumulativeness.

Jerez-Sosa couches the issue of cumulativeness as one of admissibility. He contends that because the trial court could not properly have admitted Santos-Valdez's statements as rebuttal evidence, the statements could not have been considered cumulative. He is incorrect.

Allegations of robberies not committed under duress are admissible to rebut a claim of duress raised in other robberies. <u>Watkins</u>, 53 Wn. App. at 271. In <u>Watkins</u>, the defendant moved to sever five counts of robbery, which included four counts of robbing convenience stores, for which she claimed duress, and one for robbing someone at knifepoint in a car, for which she argued mistaken identity. <u>Id.</u> at 267-69. This Court held: "*We agree that proof that Watkins committed the car robbery without duress tends to negate her duress defense to the convenience store robberies.*" <u>Id.</u> at 271 (emphasis added). While Jerez-Sosa attempts to distinguish <u>Watkins</u> on the basis that it was decided in the context of a severance motion, this is of no moment; this Court's holding arose during the portion of the severance analysis discussing "*admissibility of the evidence of the other crimes.*" <u>Id.</u> at 269 (emphasis added). Thus, testimony that Jerez-Sosa had claimed to have participated in robberies previously without duress would have been admissible to negate his duress defense on the present charges. This is especially true in light of the nature of his duress defense; namely, that he was particularly vulnerable to duress having been randomly shot in the past as an innocent bystander. This claim served as the linchpin of Dr. Young's diagnosis of PTSD and Jerez-Sosa's own claim of extreme vulnerability around guns.

Santos-Valdez's first statement, which described Jerez-Sosa's suggestion that they rob a liquor store based on his prior success, would also have been admissible to negate his claim of duress and his attempt to paint himself as a reluctant and unwilling participant rather than an active, engaged cohort. Unlike the statements in <u>Escalona</u>, which were "not cumulative or *repetitive of other evidence*," both of the unsolicited statements in this case were indeed repetitive of evidence that would have been elicited during rebuttal anyway. <u>Escalona</u>, 49 Wn. App. at 255 (emphasis added). Moreover, as discussed below, the statements were not even offered as substantive proof of prior robberies, only as impeachment evidence.

i. ER 404(b) does not apply because the statement was offered as impeachment only.

ER 404(b) generally prohibits evidence of prior bad acts to prove a person's character in order to show conformity therewith; however, such evidence may be admitted for other valid purposes. <u>State v. Foxhoven</u>, 161 Wn.2d 168, 174-75, 163 P.3d 786 (2007). Prior to admission, the court must conduct an analysis on the record and "(1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the misconduct occurred, (2) identify the purpose for which the evidence is sought to be introduced, (3) determine whether the evidence is relevant to prove an element of the crime charged, and (4) weigh the probative value against the prejudicial effect." <u>Id.</u> at 175.

Jerez-Sosa insists that the trial court abused its discretion because the admission of both statements was subject to ER 404(b), and no such analysis was conducted on the record. In this vein, he attempts to distinguish <u>Watkins</u> by stating that the trial court there "had the benefit of a previous court making a determination of probable cause . . . in the non-duress case, thereby fulfilling the first component of <u>Foxhaven</u> [sic] that there be a preponderance of proof that the prior misconduct actually occurred." BOA at 27.

- 36 -

These arguments are misguided because ER 404(b) applies only to conduct offered as *substantive evidence*. <u>See e.g. State v.</u> <u>Wilson</u>, 60 Wn. App. 887, 891-92, 808 P.2d 754 (1991). Santos-Valdez confirmed on the stand that he had no firsthand knowledge of whether Jerez-Sosa had actually been involved in any other robberies, only that Jerez-Sosa had claimed to have been. This comported with the trial court's limiting instruction, which specifically told the jury that it could not consider the statements "for their truth, that is, whether or not the Defendant committed other robberies," but only to evaluate Jerez-Sosa's state of mind. RP 202.

Had the first statement arisen in the proper sequence during the rebuttal stage, it would not have been offered as substantive evidence, i.e., to establish that Jerez-Sosa had actually successfully robbed liquor stores, but to rebut his portrayal of his state of mind at the time of the incident as one of "despair," reluctance and fear. Because Jerez-Sosa had put this issue into play, the State would have been entitled to show that his claims of prior success established that he was instead an eager and willing participant in the Berhanu robbery.

Similarly, had the second statement arisen in proper sequence, it would not have been offered as substantive evidence to

establish that Jerez-Sosa had been shot while committing other crimes. The statement would have been admissible during re-direct examination to clarify a misleading line of inquiry by defense counsel implying that Santos-Valdez had known about Jerez-Sosa's claims of prior innocent victimhood. Where a defendant begins an inquiry into a particular subject, the State may pursue the subject further to clarify a false impression. <u>State v. Gefeller</u>, 76 Wn.2d 449, 455, 458 P.2d 17 (1969) ("It would be a curious rule of evidence which allowed one party to bring up a subject, drop it at a point where it might appear advantageous to him, and then bar the other party from all further inquiries about it.").

Defense counsel attempted to imply that Santos-Valdez knowingly bullied Jerez-Sosa into committing the crime *based on Santos-Valdez's belief* that Jerez-Sosa was a vulnerable, frightened man traumatized after being shot in the past. Santos-Valdez had no such belief because Jerez-Sosa had told him an entirely different story. Whether or not that story was true was beside the point. The contrary account given to Santos-Valdez would also have been admissible to impeach the basis for Dr. Young's opinion of extreme vulnerability. <u>Watkins</u> supports the proposition that despite its inherent prejudice, the State may offer evidence of other robberies to disprove duress. Here, the evidence presented to the jury was even less prejudicial than the type of evidence contemplated in <u>Watkins</u> because it involved only Jerez-Sosa's *claims* of past involvement in other robberies. Santos-Valdez was very clear that he had no firsthand knowledge that Jerez-Sosa was involved in other robberies. Nor did the State attempt to prove them up by calling other witnesses or bringing in extrinsic evidence.

In short, the evidence was offered only to show that contrary to his claim of duress, Jerez-Sosa had been integrally involved in planning the robbery of Berhanu and had told inconsistent stories about his 2008 shooting, which undermined both his credibility and the validity of his defense expert's conclusions regarding his extreme vulnerability.

ii. Under ER 403, the statements were more probative than prejudicial.

Because ER 404(b) does not apply, the evidence is more properly analyzed as an admission of a party opponent under ER 801(d)(2) and under ER 403 to determine its probative value versus its prejudicial effect. Jerez-Sosa argues that the statements fail under the latter's balancing test. He first contends that the probative value was low because the statements were not corroborated. He cites to no authority holding that a statement must be heard by more than one witness to be sufficiently probative.

With respect to the first statement, Jerez-Sosa next argues that "whether Jerez-Sosa *previously succeeded* in robbing a liquor store shed little light on his state of mind at the time of the charged offense." BOA at 29. However, this misses the very point of the evidence. As argued earlier, the evidence was not to be considered for the truth of the matter, i.e., whether Jerez-Sosa had actually committed a prior robbery. Regardless of its truth, it was to be considered only to show whether Jerez-Sosa was an eager and active participant in *this* robbery, someone who had suggested prospective victims and had claimed prior success in order to convince the others to select his target of choice.

With respect to the second statement, Jerez-Sosa argues that "[t]he context in which Santos-Valdez learned . . . how Jerez-Sosa had been shot, was of little relevance." BOA at 29. In fact, it was Jerez-Sosa who put the context of the shooting at issue. Defense counsel's questioning was designed to convey the impression to the jury that Santos-Valdez knew about Jerez-Sosa's alleged victimization by gunfire in 2008 and was exploiting his resulting vulnerability to force him to commit a robbery. This followed counsel's unequivocal announcement of a duress defense just hours earlier in opening statement, in which he stated that "we intend to prove that [Santos-Valdez] threatened Mr. Jerez-Sosa, and Mr. Jerez-Sosa complied," invoking Jerez-Sosa's prior injury as a primary reason for his ultimate involvement in the crime: "He will tell you that he has been shot in the past and the threat of being shot again was real and he was very, very scared." 2RP 12.

The trial court properly found that any prejudice was reduced by the detailed oral limiting instruction given after both statements as well as the other instructions urging the jury to approach Santos-Valdez's statements with caution. RP 554.

Even if ER 404(b) applied, the lack of an explicit preponderance finding was harmless.

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